ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 27 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RYAN P. DELESTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002224

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by refusing to allow Appellant to cross-examine witnesses about an armed robbery and shooting that occurred approximately two weeks before the murder where it was undisputed that Bryan Rivers was the shooter in the prior robbery and that the same firearm was used in both cases, since this prevented Appellant from fully developing and presenting his defense at trial, namely that Bryan Rivers was the shooter who killed the decedent, Marley Lion, and that Appellant was merely present at the scene, in violation of Rule 404(b), SCRE, the rule on third party guilt, and Appellant's due process right to present a defense?

2.

Whether the court erred by informing the jury during the court's opening instruction that a trial was "a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done" since this instruction was fundamentally incorrect, was burden shifting, and decimated the proper standard and jury inquiry of whether the state had proved Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the October 2012 term of General Sessions for murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and at the December 2012 term for possession of a handgun with an obliterated serial number. R. 924 – R. 931. His case was called to trial on October 7, 2013 before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, and a jury. R. 1. Solicitor Scarlett A. Wilson and Assistant Solicitor Bruce DuRant represented the state, and D. Ashley Pennington and John J. Kozelski represented Appellant. R. 2.

On October 11, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 859, l. 23 – 860, l. 17. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder, twenty years concurrent for attempted armed robbery, and five years concurrent for possession of a handgun with an obliterated serial number. R. 865, ll. 2-16. The court did not impose a sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A) since Appellant was sentenced to life without parole. R. 865, ll. 13-15; See R. 861, ll. 24 – 862, l. 12.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Katherine Ridgway testified that on June 15, 2012, the decedent, Marley Lion, picked her up from her apartment around 9:00 pm and drove her to a party at a friend's house. R. 78, l. 7 – 79, l. 1; R. 80, ll. 13-18. The two had just graduated from high school and were casually dating. R. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 6. She and Marley, who were both drinking, stayed at the house party until around 3:00 am when Marley ultimately drove her home. As he dropped her off, Marley “said he was heading home.” R. 81, l. 7 – 82, l. 7.

Officer Robert Deal of the Charleston Police Department was dispatched to the Ardmore Subdivision in West Ashley at 4:06 am on June 16, 2012 “in reference to possible shots fired in that area.” R. 91, ll. 16-22. While driving through the Ardmore neighborhood with his windows down he “noticed to the right, in the parking lot of Famous Joe’s, . . . a little white vehicle. And it appeared to have a gentleman laying down on the ground beside the vehicle.” R. 92, l. 3 – 93, l. 6. Deal went to investigate and see whether the individual needed assistance. R. 97, ll. 6-18. As he approached the man lying on the ground, he noticed broken glass on the ground. R. 98, ll. 2-3. Deal asked the man if he was okay and the man responded that “he had been shot five times.” R. 99, ll. 1-4. Deal updated dispatch and requested that EMS respond to the scene.

Deal testified that the man, later identified as Marley Lion, was coherent and told him that “he had pulled in there [the parking lot at Famous Joe’s] to kind of get some sleep, that he had been out that evening, and he felt that he was too intoxicated to drive. So he . . . was just going to sleep a little bit to be safe.” R. 101, ll. 12-18; see R. 108, ll. 3-14. According to Deal, Marley said “two black males wearing all black” were responsible for

the shooting, and that they ran “in the direction of the gravel lot,” which is a “cut-through” to the Ardmore Subdivision from the Famous Joe’s parking lot. R. 101, l. 2 – 102, l. 2.

Deal testified that EMS cut and removed Marley’s clothing to “assess his injuries” and that he was able to see a gunshot wound “in the upper chest area” and several in the thigh and groin region. R. 102, ll. 9-24. Additionally, Deal explained that he located and marked six spent cartridge casings on the ground. However, he did not collect the shell casings, but waited for the detective division and the forensic team to arrive and process the scene. R. 107, l. 6 – 108, l. 2.

On cross-examination, Deal, after consulting his report, clarified that Marley told him “that two black males approached him” and “that one was wearing all black, along with blue jeans.” According to Deal’s report, Marley told him that the black male wearing all black with blue jeans “pulled a gun out that appeared to be all black” and “that individual began to fire at him.” However, Marley never provided a clothing description for the second black male. R. 119, l. 9 – 121, l. 6.

Julius Brown, who was also charged with the murder of Marley Lion, has lived in the Ardmore neighborhood since he was “young.” His sister, Stephanie Brown, is Appellant’s girlfriend, and the two were living together on Cashew Street in Ardmore in June 2012. He also has a younger brother named Rayshawn Milligan. R. 165, l. 9 – 166, l. 5.

Julius testified that he was charged with murder on July 31, 2012 and, with the advice of his attorney, eventually entered into a plea agreement with the solicitor’s office. Under the agreement, the solicitor agreed to allow him to plead guilty to the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter with no sentence recommendation in exchange for his

cooperation and testimony against Appellant. R. 167, l. 12 – 170, l. 6. Julius has an extensive criminal record including convictions for unlawful carrying of a weapon, third degree criminal sexual conduct, assault on a police officer, numerous drug offenses, providing false information to law enforcement, trespassing, and failure to pay child support. R. 163, l. 7 – 164, l. 25.

Julius testified that on the night of July 15, 2012, he was at Appellant's house on Cashew Street with Appellant, Rayshawn, Bryan Rivers, and George Brown, who despite the same last name is unrelated. R. 170, ll. 7-22. They were "[d]rinking and smoking marijuana." R. 171, ll. 4-6. At some point during the night, they left Appellant's house and drove to downtown Charleston. George Brown drove the group in his black Chevrolet Suburban. R. 171, l. 10 – 172, l. 24. According to Julius, on the way downtown, George suggested they "hit a lick," meaning commit "[a] robbery." The group eventually saw a "girl and a boy" walking downtown and decided to rob them. Julius claimed that Appellant and Bryan Rivers, who had George's gun, got out of the car. Rivers walked up to the couple, pointed the gun at them, stole a pocketbook, and ran back to the car. R. 172, l. 4 – 176, l. 2. However, Julius testified that Appellant never approached the couple, but instead had walked in the opposite direction. After Rivers got back into the car, George picked Appellant up from a nearby McDonald's and headed back to West Ashley. R. 176, ll. 3-22.

Julius explained that on the way back to West Ashley, Rivers went through the pocketbook and discovered there was no money inside. R. 176, l. 23 – 177, l. 9. Because that robbery had been unsuccessful money-wise, the group discussed robbing Famous Joe's, a bar in West Ashley. Before going back at Appellant's house, George drove through the

parking lot at Famous Joe's to determine if the bar was a good target. R. 177, l. 10 – 178, l. 15.

Once back at Appellant's house, Julius, Rivers, and Appellant decided to walk back down to Famous Joe's. According to Julius, the plan was to wait for the employees of Famous Joe's to come out of the bar after it closed and rob them. Julius claimed George gave Appellant his gun before the three left and Appellant put the gun "[i]nside his pant on his hip." R. 179, l. 6 – 182, l. 4. He said it took them only three minutes to walk from Appellant's house to that area. R. 182, ll. 8-11. Once there, they stopped behind a white fence and watched the parking lot in front of Famous Joe's. Julius testified that they eventually saw the employees coming out of Joe's and they "had stuff in their hands," but he could not tell if they had any money. R. 182, l. 13 – 183, l. 13. He claimed Appellant was about to rob them when Marley Lion pulled into the parking lot and "interrupt[ed]" the robbery.<sup>1</sup> R. 183, l. 24 – 184, l. 8.

Julius claimed that once the employees left, Appellant said "he [was] going to try to see what Marley Lion had" and Julius decided to go "along with it." R. 184, ll. 9-20. Julius then walked through the parking lot and passed by Marley's car to see "how much people was in the car," but he "couldn't see inside" because the windows were too dark. After walking by the car, Julius walked back to the white fence where Appellant and Rivers were waiting and told them he "couldn't see in the truck." R. 184, l. 25 – 187, l. 13. According to Julius, Appellant and Rivers were "discussing who was going to go, passing the gun back and forth, and then Ryan [Appellant] just decided to go." R. 187, l. 14 – 188, l. 4.

---

<sup>1</sup> Despite referring to Marley Lion by name throughout his testimony, Julius asserted that they did not know who Marley was before this incident. See R. 182, l. 22 – 183, l. 3.

Julius testified, “He [Appellant] walked up to the truck and [told] him [Marley] to open the door, and Marley set off the alarm. And that made Deleston [Appellant] run back [to the white fence where Rivers and Julius were standing]. And when he ran back, I told him, I’m like, bust the window, and he turned back around and that’s when he started shooting.” R. 188, ll. 1015. Julius claimed Appellant shot “[a]bout five times.” R. 189, ll. 6-7. He said he told Appellant to “bust the window” so “he could . . . get in the truck,” but, according to Julius, Appellant thought he had said “shoot.” R. 188, ll. 19-25.

After the shooting, all three men took off running back towards Ardmore. Julius claimed they “went up behind this white boy named Jason house, and Deleston [Appellant] hide the gun under the pool.” After hiding the gun, they ran back to Appellant’s house on Cashew Street. R. 190, ll. 4-21. Julius testified that he told Appellant to go inside and wash his hands with bleach to remove any gunpowder. He claimed Appellant went inside and washed his hands and changed his shirt, but he did not know whether Appellant actually used bleach. R. 191, ll. 2-9; R. 192, l. 20 – 193, l. 5. When Appellant came back outside, the others told him “he [would] go down for shooting him [Marley]” and “[y]ou’s a stupid MF for shooting him for nothing.” R. 192, ll. 1-7.

Shortly thereafter, Appellant and Julius decided to go back down to the scene because Appellant had allegedly left his red hat and a debit card behind the white fence. Julius opined that it was important to go back and get these items because it “would have been evidence.” He explained that the two stopped by his mother’s house to pick up two bicycles and then rode down towards Famous Joe’s. He said they saw “the police and a fire truck” in the Famous Joe’s parking lot, and that, while Appellant hid behind an apartment building, Julius ran out and picked up the hat and debit card. The two then returned to

Julius' mother's house and dropped off the bicycles. R. 193, l. 20 – 197, l. 7. Julius testified that they saw two police officers near his mother's house and Appellant told him that one of the officers was "the [same] police who had [previously] stopped me for not having a flashlight on the bike." R. 197, ll. 8-17.

Julius claimed that when they got back to Appellant's house on Cashew Street, Appellant burned the shirt and pants he wore that evening and the pocketbook Rivers had stolen during the robbery of the couple downtown in a fire in his backyard. R. 193, ll. 6-8; R. 197, l. 21 – 198, l. 13.

Julius then walked the jury through surveillance footage capturing the parking lot in front of Famous Joe's during the early morning hours of June 16, 2012. He identifies George's black Suburban driving through the parking lot at 3:08 am after the group had returned from downtown. R. 208, l. 25 – 15. Julius testified that the footage shows the employees "leaving out of Joe's" around 3:33 am and then the employees eventually leaving the parking lot after Marley Lion pulls in and parks. R. 209, l. 16 – 210, l. 22. He claimed that while Marley was moving stuff around in the back of his car, the three were behind the white fence discussing how many people may be in Marley's car. Julius identifies himself walking through the parking lot at 3:44 am "to see if I could see how much people was in the truck." R. 210, l. 24 – 211, l. 15. Then starting around 3:56 am, the shooting takes place. Julius claimed Appellant was the shooter and that he was wearing a striped shirt, blue jeans, and "white Nikes." He also claimed that Rivers was wearing all black, including black Nikes, and that he was wearing a white t-shirt, shorts, and some slippers. R. 189, l. 12 – 190, l. 3; R. 213, l. 6 – 214, l. 9.

On cross-examination, Julius admitted that when he first spoke to law enforcement in June 2012 while the investigation was still in its early stages he told them that they should look at Bryan Rivers because he wears all black and “he and his associates were doing robberies.” R. 217, ll. 14-22; R. 219, ll. 8-25.

Officer Ulysius Vance of the Charleston Police Department testified that around 4:20 am on June 16, 2012, shortly after the shooting, she was asked to assist Officer Mattingly who was attempting to stop two individuals on White Oak Drive in Ardmore. R. 151, l. 19 – 152, l. 11. She explained that she eventually “stopped a Mr. Maurice Simmons.” R. 153, l. 16 – 154, l. 22. Vance claimed that while she was stopping Simmons, she saw Appellant and another individual, who she did not know at the time, in front of a residence on White Oak Drive. R. 155, ll. 4-21. She said they were on bicycles and were both wearing white t-shirts. R. 157, ll. 16-22. She testified that she recognized Appellant because she had stopped him on June 5, 2012 for riding a bicycle at night without a flashlight. R. 152, l. 12 – 153, l. 7. She claimed that when she saw Appellant the night of the murder, he “made the comment that he had the flashlight tonight.” R. 155, ll. 22-25.

Bryan Rivers, who admitted he was involved in the shooting of Marley Lion, also has an extensive criminal record including assault with intent to kill, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and numerous drug offenses. He went to prison in 2011 for selling drugs and was released on June 1, 2012, about two weeks before the murder. R. 246, l. 24 – 247, l. 1; R. 248, ll. 2-22.

Rivers testified that, despite being offered a favorable plea deal, he refused to cooperate with law enforcement or the solicitor until about a month before Appellant’s trial. On September 11, 2013, he wrote a letter to Solicitor Scarlett Wilson indicating he

wished to accept the plea offer if it was still available. Rivers explained that he ultimately pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter and attempted armed robbery to avoid a murder conviction. In order to keep the plea agreement, River testified he must “[t]ell the truth” about his involvement. R. 250, l. 7 – 256, l. 18.

Rivers explained that when he got out of prison on June 1, 2012, he stayed with Stephanie Brown and Appellant, who were “[g]irlfriend and boyfriend.” R. 247, l. 20 – 248, l. 1; R. 248, ll. 20-25. On the night of June 15, 2012, he was at Appellant’s house with Appellant, Julius Brown, George Brown, and Rayshawn Milligan. The group was smoking cigarettes, “[r]eefer,” and “just cooling.” At some point, they decided to go downtown “[l]ooking for licks,” meaning “[r]obberies.” Rivers testified that they “went to [the] Rutledge Avenue area, and George Brown, he parked the truck and retrieved a gun” from under his seat. George gave the gun to Rivers who saw “this white couple” who looked like they had been drinking.

Rivers testified that he got out of the car with Appellant, who was supposed to help him with the robbery, but Appellant walked in the opposite direction instead. Rivers admitted that he “approached the couple, held them at gunpoint, [and] told them to give me everything.” He said the woman gave him a “big purse,” but he did not get anything from the man. R. 260, l. 2 – 261, l. 5. Rivers admitted he was wearing “[a]ll black. Black T-shirt, black shorts, black sneakers.” R. 261, ll. 9-12. When he got back to George’s car, Appellant was not there. Rivers testified they later picked up Appellant at a McDonald’s near the robbery and drove back to West Ashley. R. 262, l. 19 – 263, l. 7.

He explained that on the way back to West Ashley, they “drove through Joe’s parking lot” to “[s]cope the scene” because they “were planning on robbing the [people]

coming out of Joe's." He claimed that he, Appellant, George, and Julius were all involved in planning the robbery at Joe's. R. 264, ll. 1-23. After driving by Famous Joe's, the group went back to Appellant's house. Shortly thereafter, Rivers left with Appellant and Julius to walk down to Joe's. He claimed Appellant had gotten the gun Rivers had used in the earlier downtown robbery from George before they left and "tuck[ed] it under his waistline." R. 265, l. 22 – 266, l. 25. He said Appellant was wearing a striped shirt and white sneakers called Willie Dee's. R. 267, ll. 1-17.

Rivers testified that they stopped behind a white fence and eventually saw "a couple of people walking out of [Famous Joe's]." According to Rivers, this "was around the time that Marley Lion pulled up." He said that after Marley pulled up, the employees got into their cars and left. He claimed Marley then "got out of his car. I guess he went in the back to get a pillow or something. So Mr. Deleston [Appellant] attentions went off the Joe's robbery, so now he - - he decided . . . [he was] going to rob the white dude [Marley]." R. 267, l. 24 – 269, l. 17. Julius then walked through the parking lot "to scope the scene out" and, when he came back, "said everything was good. Said he didn't see anybody else." R. 270, ll. 3-15.

Rivers testified Appellant still had the gun, but "tried to pass me the gun, but I gave it back. I pushed it off." R. 270, l. 16 – 271, l. 5. He claimed Appellant decided "to continue with the robbery" and "went up to the car and knocked on the window." At that point, the car alarm went off. Rivers said he thought Marley set the alarm off. He claimed that after the alarm went off, Appellant ran back towards him and Julius and Julius told Appellant, "Get him, get him, get him. Not as 'get him' as in to shoot the man, but . . . [to] [c]ontinue with the robbery." R. 271, l. 6 – 272, l. 10. According to Rivers, Appellant then

went back to the car and began shooting. He claimed he shot five or six times. Rivers testified that he knew Appellant hit Marley “[b]ecause of the way he [Marley] was yelling and screaming.” R. 272, l. 17 – 273, l. 3.

After the shooting, all three men took off running. Rivers said they stopped at “this white dude, Jason, his backyard” and Appellant “tucked it [the gun] under the pool.” R. 273, l. 5 – 274, l. 5. They then continued running until they got back to Appellant’s house on Cashew Street. R. 274, ll. 6-8. When they got back, Appellant went inside the house. According to Rivers, when he came back out Appellant smelled “like bleach” and “didn’t have any shirt on.” R. 275, ll. 13-25.

Like Julius, Rivers reviewed the surveillance footage and explained what the camera captured early that morning. See R. 279, l. 15 – 284, l. 13.

Rayshawn Milligan testified that his brother is Julius Brown and his sister is Stephanie Brown. R. 314, l. 3-13. In 2012, Stephanie was dating Appellant and the two lived together on Cashew Street in Ardmore. R. 316, ll. 11-25. On June 15, 2012, Rayshawn was hanging out at Appellant’s house with Appellant, George Brown, Julius Brown, and Bryan Rivers. R. 317, ll. 4-10. Sometime that night, the men left Appellant’s house and drove downtown. George was driving. R. 320, ll. 6-16.

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