STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002224

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RYAN P. DELESTON,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Ste. 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

murder weapon in an armed robbery prior to the Lion killing was an uncontested fact. The robbery of the couple just two hours before was documented throughout the trial by evidence from each of the perpetrators – Julius Brown, Bryan Rivers, George Brown, and the victim. In addition, evidence was presented that during the day before the two robberies, Rivers was waving a gun at the video shoot. Further, Rivers conceded that prior to Lion’s killing he had a discussion with Appellant where they attempted to pass the gun between each, a discussion that was documented within the testimony of Rivers, Julius Brown and Appellant’s own evening statement. Simply put, the exclusion of the Chopper evidence did not prevent Appellant from articulating that Rivers had used the weapon in a robbery, a robbery that in fact had close temporal proximity to the Lion crime.

Appellant looks to Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006), to argue that the standard for presenting evidence of third party guilt has been lowered. In Holmes, the defendant “sought to introduce evidence that another man, White, had actually perpetrated the crimes for which he was charged. He proffered several witnesses who testified White had been in the neighborhood where the crime occurred on the morning it was committed. He also presented testimony of witnesses who claimed White had admitted committing the crimes. The evidence that Appellant wishes to enter creates only the mere suspicion that Rivers may have held the weapon at the time of Lion’s death. Unlike Holmes, the evidence that Appellant wishes to enter here is evidence of a previous crime not directly related to the Marley Lion shooting. The Holmes case involves very different circumstances than our present case.

In Cope, Cope’s third party culpability evidence was excluded under the standard rules of admissibility which apply to all evidence by application of Rule 404(b). The attempted showing

for using the other act evidence against Sanders was minimally relevant to prove what the defense was seeking it to prove, that Sanders was able to secure entry for his other crimes without a showing of forced entry. The reasoning behind Rule 404(b) is one of relevance balanced against undue prejudice and confusion of the issues. In the state Supreme Court and trial court's reasoning that the other acts were not sufficiently similar, the trial court reasonably applied standards that did not violate the Constitution and thereby did not deprive him of a meaningful defense.

Similarly, in this case, the evidence that Rivers had possessed George Brown's gun two weeks before during a robbery that Deleston was a participant in was minimally relevant to prove that Rivers possessed the weapon at the Lion robbery, in light of the more temporally probative evidence supporting that defense theory. Here, the exclusion did not undermine his right to present a defense. There was extensive evidence presented about Rivers prior possession of weapons during a robbery. See Wynne v. Renico, 606 F.3d 867, 871 (6th Cir.2010) (petitioner not denied right to present a defense by trial court's exclusion of Rule 404(b) evidence where petitioner was able to introduce "considerable non-propensity-based evidence in support of the Peckham-did-it defense."); United States v. Lucas, 357 F.3d 599, 606–07 (6th Cir.2004) (exclusion of third party's prior conviction did not violated defendant's right to present a defense where defendant "was able to explore her theory that [another individual] was in fact the culprit" through other evidence.). The Court "may exclude marginally relevant evidence and evidence posing an undue risk of confusion of the issues without offending a defendant's constitutional rights." United States v. Alayeto, 628 F.3d 917, 922 (7th Cir.2010) (citing Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326–27, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in the exclusion. [R.p. 31, ll. 5-10, Tr. 227, 11. 5-10.]. This is particularly

true when the evidence to support the common scheme would have supported Deleston' guilt as part of the earlier scheme as well.

IV. Any error in the alleged exclusion was harmless error.

Even if considered as "constitutional error" an examination of the record in this case reveals that any alleged error in excluding Petitioner's excluded evidence, if it was error at all, was "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). As the Court stated in Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 579 (1986), a judgment of conviction should be affirmed "[w]here the reviewing court can find that the record developed at trial establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Chapman announced that constitutional errors are harmless only if the reviewing court is "able to declare a belief that [the error] was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Id.

As noted above, evidence about the Chopper robbery and shooting by Rivers was developed in the admitted statement of Deleston the evening of July 30 and commented on by the Solicitor in her argument. In addition, evidence that Rivers possess the weapon within two hours of the Lion shooting was presented, as well as evidence that Appellant and Rivers were conferencing with each other at the Lion crime on who would have the weapon. Nevertheless, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant' participation in the Lion incident through the testimony of Julius Brown, the surveillance videos which identified similarities with Deleston as opposed to the other perpetrators, and portions of Appellant's own statement where he acknowledged involvement in the Lion attempted robbery. Under accomplice liability theory, any alleged error could only be harmless error as to murder.

Under these circumstances, a new trial is not warranted.

- II. A new trial is not warranted where the trial court stated during the court's opening remarks that a trial was "a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done" and the "State has the burden of proving each of the elements beyond a reasonable doubt" when viewing the instructions as a whole in the opening and in final instructions on the law which do not dilute the jury's responsibility to determine whether the State had met its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Further, where no request for a mistrial was made and only a modification of the opening remarks was requested and denied, the issue was not preserved for an appeal where the requested language of the specific modified charge does not appear in the record. Finally any alleged error in the opening remarks is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.**

During Judge Harrington's opening charge to the jury she used the phrase concerning a trial that "it is a search for the truth in an effort to make you sure that justice is done." In his appeal before this court, the appellant contends that this "seek the truth" language was an inaccurate instruction and should require a new trial. He contends that this instruction at the opening of the trial would have allowed the jury to concentrate on evaluating the quality of the evidence in a search for the truth rather than thinking in terms of their actual task of determining whether the state had proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt. He states in his brief before this court that the South Carolina Supreme Court one year before the trial in appellant's case had instructed courts to remove similar language from their instructions which may potentially alter to the jury's perception of the burden of proof, substituting justice and fairness for the presumption of innocence and the State's burden to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, citing State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012).

Respondent respectfully submits that a new trial is not warranted where the opening charge to the jury by Judge Harrington and use of "search for the truth and making sure that justice is done" language viewed with the opening instructions as a whole did not dilute the

jury's sense of responsibility where the jury was specifically instructed in the opening instructions that the instructions were only intended to serve as an introduction to the trial of the case and that the remarks were not a charge on the law which would be instructed at the close of the trial before the jury retires to consider the verdict. R.p. 35, l. 10-15, Tr. p.231, l. 10-15. Further, the appellants claim is ameliorated by the language stated by Judge Harrington that "the defendant has pled not guilty to this indictment. The state has a burden of proving each of the elements of the indictment beyond a reasonable doubt it is your duty, ladies and gentlemen, to determine whether the State has met that burden." R.p. 36, l. 3-8, Tr. p. 232, l. 3-8. Furthermore, when viewed with the closing instructions to the jury where the burden of proof was fully and properly charged, the Appellant's claim that the brief mention of seek the truth in the opening charge does not minimize the jury's responsibility to determine if the State met its burden of proof under the instructions as a whole. A new trial is not warranted. See State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) ("[J]ury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.").

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, this court sits to review errors of law only, and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless those findings are clearly erroneous. State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 508, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009). The ultimate test to determine the propriety of the trial judge's charge is "what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean" in the context of the entire jury instruction. State v. Bell, 305 S.C. 11, 16, 406 S.E.2d 165, 168 (1991); see also, e.g., State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 218, 499 S.E.2d 209, 215 (1998) ("A jury instruction

must be viewed in the context of the overall charge.”). The appropriate test for reviewing a jury charge involves determining whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the charge in a way that violated the Constitution. Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 71 (1991). “ ‘In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.’ ” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 478, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). Additionally, erroneous jury instructions are subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009).

How the issue was raised at trial.

In Judge Harrington’s opening instructions to the jury, she included the following statements:

Ladies and gentlemen, I wanted to take this opportunity to tell you that this trial probably will be different from what you might expect. Most people do not have the opportunity to come to court as you are doing now, and most people think that from watching television or movies or reading books, that trials are full of intense drama and riveting circumstances. While all of these things are true at some times, please remember this trial is not for your entertainment. It is a fundamental part of our democracy. **It is a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done before the parties before you. Searching for the truth and making sure that justice is done is often slow, deliberate, and repetitive, the opposite of what you may have seen on television or movies or read in books. . . .**

R.p. 34, l. 3- p. 35, l. 2, Tr. 230, l.3 – p. 231, l. 2 (emphasis added in Initial Brief of Appellant, pg. 36).

However, the trial judge also commented that these instructions were not as “charge on the law.” R.p. 35, l. 10-12, Tr.p. 231, l. 10-12. She stated that “I will instruct you on the law that is applicable to this case throughout the trial and at the close of the case before you retire to

consider the verdict.” R.p. 35, l. 10-15, Tr.p. 231, l. 10-15. In addition, in the opening charge, the trial judge stated:

I simply wanted to take this opportunity to explain the procedure so that you will be better able to understand what is happening before you. The defendant is charged with indictments and he is charged in each indictment separately with the crime of murder, attempted armed robbery, possession of a handgun with an obliterated serial number, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime.

I will explain the elements of each of these charges to you at a later time. The indictment is simply the charge by which this case is brought into this court the indictment is not in any sense evidence of the allegations it contains. **The defendant has pled not guilty to this indictment. The State has the burden of proving each of the elements of the indictment beyond a reasonable doubt.**

It is your duty, ladies and gentlemen, to determine whether the State has met that burden. Your purpose as jurors as to find and determine the facts. He was the sole judges of the facts in this case.

R.p. 35, l. 16- p 36, l. 8, Tr.p. 231, l. 16- p. 232, l. 8 (emphasis added). Judge Harrington further charged in her opening instruction that “it is important that you keep an open mind and not decide any issue in this case until all the evidence has been presented, the parties have made their closing arguments, and I have instructed you on the law applicable to the case.” R.p. 38, l. 11-15, Tr.p. 234, l. 11-15. Judge Harrington also concluded the instructions with the following:

Ladies and gentlemen, after the arguments of counsel and after you have heard the testimony in this case, and I have charged you in the law applicable to this case, **you will be in a position to determine the true facts, and render a true and just verdict.**

R.p. 40, ll. 17-22, Tr. 236, ll. 17-22. (emphasis added in Initial Brief of Appellant pg. 36-37).

The Objection and Request for a Modified Instruction and Ruling

After the jury left the courtroom the judge allowed the Defense counsel to put on the record his objection to the court’s opening instruction. The Defense counsel objected to the

judge's instruction that a trial was "a search for the truth." Counsel Pennington stated that although he had used the language himself before, he had heard at a seminar that he "this could mislead a juror into thinking that their job is to be investigators instead of to be evaluators of the quality of the evidence and whether or not it proves beyond a reasonable doubt the indictments that have been brought by the state against the individual on trial." R.p. 73, l. 3-13, Tr. page 269, l. 3-13. Counsel stated that he had objected after the trial judge had finished her remarks and asked the court then to consider a modified instruction. R.p. 73, l. 14-17, Tr.p. 269, l. 14-17.¹⁹

However, counsel never states what language he sought the trial judge to include in a modified instruction. Rather, he continued and stated his concern is that he believes the jurors place enormous weight and importance on what judges say. He was concerned that if a juror was to believe that this was not whether the State had proven its case but asserts for the truth this could result in an inappropriate burden for them. R.p. 73, l. 14-p. 270, l. 3, Tr. page 269, line 14 – page 270 line 3. Judge Harrington noted the objection. **[The record does not reveal what modification of the instruction counsel Pennington requested]**. No request for mistrial was made. At the conclusion of the state's case, defense counsel renewed his earlier objections specifically to evidentiary issues, but not to issues related to the opening remarks of Judge Harrington. R.p. 768-769, Tr.p. 1038-1039. At the conclusion of the trial, counsel Pennington asserted that he was renewing all motions based on objections that he asserted earlier. Tr.p. 1148, l. 12-21.

¹⁹ This is reflected in the record where counsel Pennington approached the court and his objection was noted and that he would be allowed to articulate his reasons outside the jury's presence at the first break. R.p. 41, l. 6-16. Tr.p. 237, l. 6-16.

ANALYSIS

THE ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED

This matter is not preserved for review because the precise language of the requested “modified charge” by counsel Pennington after the objection does not appear in the record. R.p. 73, l. 14-16, Tr.p. 269, l. 14-16. An appellate court will not review the failure to give a requested jury charge where the request to charge does not appear on the record. See Wren v. Kirkland Distrib. Co., 250 S.C. 178, 181–82, 156 S.E.2d 865, 866 (1967) State v. Jenkins, 249 S.C. 570, 155 S.E.2d 624 (1967); State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 428 S.E.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1993).

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